**RECEIVED**

DEC 22 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Roger M. Young, Sr., Court of General Sessions Judge

---

Case No. 11-GS-10-5527, 5528, 5531  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001051

---

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,

v.

Joseph Todd Rowland, ..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Mark A. Peper, Esquire  
1637 Savannah Highway  
Suite 202  
Charleston, SC 29407  
(843) 225-2520  
Attorney for Appellant

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence on the ground the search warrant was not supported probable cause..... 8**
  
- II. The trial court erred by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict when the evidence presented by the state did not suffice to create a jury issue as to constructive possession of the drugs.....16**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 3, 2011, the Appellant was arrested and charged with Trafficking Cocaine 28g – 100g S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, PWID Marijuana S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crim S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30, and Possession of a Stolen Firearm S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30. At a Court of General Sessions, convened on September 12, 2011, the Appellant was indicted on the above charges by a Grand Jury. The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. presided over a jury trial on May 12-13, 2014.

The Appellant moved to suppress the search warrant on the basis that it did not give the magistrate information sufficient to rise to the level of probable cause, and further, that it contained an error so egregious that it failed as a matter of law. (Transcript, p. 70, 71). The Court denied Appellant's motion to suppress based on the totality of the circumstances giving rise to the level of probable cause required. (Transcript, p. 74, 75).

The Appellant moved for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case, asserting the evidence presented did not suffice to create a jury issue as to constructive possession. (Transcript, p. 47, 52). The Court directed a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Possession of a Stolen Firearm S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30 but denied the Appellant's directed verdict motion regarding the remaining three (3) charges on the basis that there was sufficient circumstances which would support a conviction based on constructive possession of the drugs and a gun during the commission of a violent crime. (Transcript, p. 219).

The jury found the Appellant guilty of Trafficking Cocaine 28g – 100g S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, PWID Marijuana S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm

During the Commission of a Violent Crim S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 and sentenced to a total of twenty (20) years in prison. (Transcript, p. 280, 281).

Counsel for Appellant renewed his pre-trial motion and directed verdict motion, and Appellant himself made additional post-trial motions on his own accord. (Transcript, p. 271-274, 281).

Appellant filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal on May 15, 2014.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 3, 2011, the City of Charleston Police Department Special Investigations Unit, acting on several complaints in reference to the location, set up stationary surveillance across the street from 31 Woodleaf Ct. around 2:15pm approximately 50 yards away. (Transcript p. 47, 54, 57).

About 15 minutes later, Officer Ratliff observed a blue vehicle drive up Woodleaf Ct. and park in front of 31 Woodleaf Ct. The Appellant walked out of the residence, walked straight through his yard to the passenger side window, reached in through the window, *appeared* to do a hand-to-hand transaction, giving the driver who was the sole occupant of that vehicle what he had, got something, returned, immediately turned and went back into the residence. (Transcript p. 57).

Officer Ratliff pointed out the blue car to the patrol unit stationed at the front of the neighborhood who initiated a traffic stop on the vehicle. After finding marijuana and cocaine inside the vehicle, the driver agreed to give a voluntary statement regarding the drugs found in his vehicle. The driver gave a written statement indicating he had just bought marijuana and cocaine from a party he knows as Blow. (Transcript, p. 58, 59).

Based on Officer Ratliff's observations and the driver's written statement, Officer Ratliff created an affidavit for a search warrant using a template from a previous search warrant and presented it to the magistrate. The last page of the search warrant submitted to the magistrate claimed that there was probable cause to believe illegal narcotics, and/or the proceeds of, were being stored at *101 A Pamlico Terrace, Charleston, SC 29455*. (Transcript, p. 60, 61, 63). (with emphasis). Officer Ratliff supplemented the written affidavit with oral testimony before the magistrate regarding the background he'd had with the Appellant, the different calls he'd gone to

involving the Appellant at that residence and elsewhere, the numerous complaints that he had received, and the fact that he had spoken with a sibling of his. (Transcript, p. 61).

Officer Ratliff and members of the Charleston Police Department Special Investigations Unit then executed the search warrant for 31 Woodleaf Ct. The Appellant was not in the house when the search warrant was executed. (Transcript, p. 68). During the execution of the search warrant, marijuana, cocaine, and a handgun were found in a bedroom. (Transcript, p. 125, 127, 128).

The Appellant was arrested and charged with Trafficking Cocaine 28g – 100g S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, PWID Marijuana S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crim S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30<sup>1</sup>, and Possession of a Stolen Firearm S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30. At a Court of General Sessions, convened on September 12, 2011, the Appellant was indicted on the above charges by a Grand Jury. Thereafter, an additional thirty-two (32) months passed before the State brought Appellant's case to trial in front of the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr.

After the jury was sworn, Appellant made a motion to suppress the search warrant on the basis that it did not give the magistrate information sufficient to rise to the level of probable cause, noting that the Officers started observing the residence based on anonymous citizen's concerns, only observed what "*appeared to be*" a hand-to-hand drug transaction, did not search the car prior to the driver visiting the residence, and contained an error so egregious that it made the warrant itself fail as a matter of law. (Transcript, p. 70, 71). The Court denied Appellant's motion, finding that based on the totality of the circumstances, the reference to 101 A Hamilton (sic) Terrace

---

<sup>1</sup> The charge of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon was not taken to trial.

address was a scrivener's error, they had reason to be observing the residence, they witnessed at least one drug transaction, they stopped the person driving the car who said he bought drugs just a short time from the Appellant, thus giving them information sufficient to rise to the level of probable cause to issue the search warrant. (Transcript, p. 74, 75).

Following the State's presentation, the Appellant moved for a directed verdict on all charges asserting the evidence presented by the State did not suffice to create a jury issue as to constructive possession of the drugs. The testimony revealed that the Appellant was not inside the residence when the warrant was served, but was standing outside the residence. (Transcript, p. 47, 52). The witness was unable to say whether the Appellant lived or slept at the residence. (Transcript, p. 53). No testimony was presented that indicated the Appellant had ownership of the house, nor a special relationship between the owner of the house from which a right to control might be inferred. Further, no fingerprints of the Appellant were recovered on any of the items found inside the residence. (Transcript, p. 117). The Court directed a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Possession of a Stolen Firearm S.C. Code Ann § 16-23-30 but denied the Appellant's directed verdict motion regarding the remaining three (3) charges on the basis that there was sufficient circumstances which would support a conviction based on constructive possession of the drugs and a gun during the commission of a violent crime. (Transcript, p. 219).

Appellant was convicted of Trafficking Cocaine 28g – 100g S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, PWID Marijuana S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370, and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crim S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 and sentenced to a total of twenty (20) years in prison<sup>2</sup>. (Transcript, p. 280, 281).

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant was sentenced to 20 years on the Trafficking Cocaine, 5 years on the PWID Marijuana, and 5 years on the Firearm charge, all sentences to run concurrent.

Following the verdict, the Appellant on his own accord argued for a new trial based on the State not having physical proof of a chain of custody, that the search warrant was invalid on its face because Officer Ratliff did not leave a copy of the Affidavit to the search warrant at his residence in violation of SC Code Ann. § 17-13-140 and the Fourth Amendment of the South Carolina Constitution, that the search warrant was invalid on its face because there was no indication of reliability of the informant in the search warrant, that Appellant was not present during the time the search warrant was being conducted, and that the State only proved mere presence and no dominion or control over the drugs and contraband found. (Transcript, p. 271-274). After the sentencing phases of the trial, counsel renewed Appellant's motion for a new trial and directed verdict, which was denied by the Court for the same reasons previously stated. (Transcript, p. 281).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence on the ground the search warrant was not supported by probable cause.**

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure . . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissible in both state and federal court. Forrester, 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840. A magistrate may issue a search warrant only upon a finding of probable cause. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). “This determination requires the magistrate to make a practical, common-sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying the information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 150, 561 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2002). “The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. The magistrate should determine probable cause based on all of the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 684, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted). To determine probable cause, the Court looks to the totality of the circumstances test set forth in Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983). The totality of the circumstances test establishes: [t]he task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the “veracity” and “basis of knowledge” of persons supplying hearsay

information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *Id.* at 238; see also *State v. Jones*, 342 S.C. 121, 536 S.E.2d 675 (2000) (stating that under totality of circumstances test, reviewing court considers all circumstances, including status, basis of knowledge, and veracity of informant, when determining whether or not probable cause existed to issue search warrant). A defendant has the right to challenge misstatements in a search warrant affidavit. *See Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57L.Ed.2d 667 (1978); *State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501(1975). A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if the following criteria are met: (1) the defendant's attack is more than conclusory and is supported by more than a mere desire to cross-examine; (2) the defendant makes allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth which are accompanied by an offer of proof; and, (3) the affiant has made the allegedly false or reckless statement. Further, if the foregoing criteria have been met, and the remaining content is insufficient to find probable cause after the allegedly false or reckless material has been set aside, the defendant is entitled to his hearing, under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments. *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171, 98 S.Ct. at 2684, 57 L.Ed.2d at 677. The South Carolina General Assembly has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution require an oath or affirmation before probable cause can be found by an officer of the court, and a search warrant issued. U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Additionally, the South Carolina Code mandates that a search warrant “shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985). Oral testimony may also be used in this state to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. See *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801

(1997). However, “sworn oral testimony, standing alone, does not satisfy the statute.” State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678-79 (2000). In terms of a court’s review of the magistrate’s decision, “[t]he duty of the reviewing court is to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). “In reviewing the validity of a warrant, an appellate court may consider only information brought to the magistrate’s attention.” State v. Thompson, 363 S.C. 192, 200, 609 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2005).

In the instant case, the reason for the affiant’s belief that drugs would be found at 31 Woodleaf Court is included in the affidavit, which provided in part:

Over the past 6 months, the Charleston Police Department Special Investigations Unit has received numerous complaints of narcotic activity from citizens, in reference to illegal narcotics being sold from 31 Woodleaf Ct. SIU has been conducting an investigation on this residence and Joseph Rowland for more than a year for narcotic activity.

In response, within the past 72 hours, the CPD Special Investigations Unit utilized (sic) established a fixed surveillance location in which Inv., Ratliffe and Inv. Sumner observed Joseph Todd Rowland, a registered resident at this location, conduct a hand to hand narcotics transaction.

At approx. 1440 hrs. Joseph Rowland was observed exiting the residence via the front door and walk up to a vehicle which parked in front of the residence. Joseph Rowland approached the door of the vehicle and conducted a hand to hand transaction with a person inside the vehicle (SC CWM-343). Within 1 minute of making contact with the driver of the vehicle Joseph Rowland then walked back into the above residence. The vehicle (SC CWM-343) then immediately left the area. Inv. Ratliffe and Inv. Sumner then corroborate (sic) this by having a CPD patrol unit conduct a traffic stop on the above vehicle (SC CWM-343) and locate an amount of illegal narcotics. The driver of the vehicle then wrote a statement confirming the above mentioned transaction of illegal narcotics. Based on Inv. Ratliffe’s experience and the current investigation, there is probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics, and/or the proceeds of, are being stored at *101 A Pamlico Terrace, Charleston, SC 39455*. (with emphasis)

As evidenced in the above, the narcotics officers' decision to request a search warrant was precipitated primarily by the receipt of numerous citizen complaints of narcotic activity at 31 Woodleaf Ct., however, these complainants remained anonymous and there is no mention by any of the citizens of anyone ever actually seeing drugs on the premises. Armed with the complaints, they conducted surveillance of the residence and saw "a blue Honda Accord drive up, drive down the roadway, and park across from Rowland's house, and Joseph Rowland came out from the residence, went over there to the car, into the passenger side, and conducted a hand-to-hand drug transaction". (R. p. 21). They "followed the blue car until the marked units could get behind it to conduct a traffic stop...we spoke to the driver, and the driver told us that he just purchased the coke and marijuana from Blow. Blow is an alias of Joseph Rowland." (R. p. 23; p. 33).

Based on the citizens' complaints, the officer's observations during the surveillance, the statement of the driver of the blue car, as well as his experience, the Officer presented this information to the magistrate with the request that a search warrant be issued for *101-A Pamlico Terrace*. (with emphasis). Further, the Officer provided oral testimony to the magistrate regarding "the background I've had with the Defendant, the different calls I've gone to involving the defendant at that residence and elsewhere, the numerous complaints that we had received, and the fact that I had spoken with a sibling of his." (R. p. 35). The magistrate ultimately signed the warrant for the search of *31 Woodleaf Ct.* (with emphasis).

Following a suppression hearing, the trial court ruled, "the totality of the circumstances is that they had a reason to be observing Mr. Rowland, the defendant's house. They witnessed -- or they -- based on tips that he had been drug dealing, et cetera, that's what got them to observe that house. They then witnessed at least one transaction, possibly two, on drugs. One was the bicycle, but, more importantly, the one was the one with the car. They then stopped that person in driving

the car who said yes, I bought drugs just a short time before from the defendant. That...is sufficient to rise to the level of probable cause to issue the search warrant.” (R. p. 48-49). The Court made clear to the parties that this was its final ruling and that probable cause was established to issue the search warrant, thus the Appellant was not required to renew his objection each time the State introduced evidence discovered during the search. (See *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 156-157, 679 S.E.2d 72, 175 (2009).

Applying the facts of the instant case to the law of South Carolina, the Affidavit and the supplemental oral testimony were insufficient to provide the magistrate with a substantial basis for which to find probable cause to issue the search warrant for 31 Woodleaf Ct. While the trial court correctly based the validity of the search warrant on the totality of the circumstances, the Appellant believes it necessary to separately address each piece of evidence presented to the magistrate.

Initially, the officer’s belief that drugs would be found on the premises was based on numerous complaints of narcotic activity from citizens, in reference to illegal narcotics being sold from 31 Woodleaf Ct., however, these citizens remained anonymous and there is no mention of anyone ever seeing drugs on the premises. While such activity might raise suspicions, or be one indicator of possible narcotics transactions, these complaints alone were insufficient to establish probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant. *Bailey v. Superior Court for County of Ventura (People)*, 11 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1107, 15 Cal. Rptr. 2d 17, 19-20 (1992). The complaints were simply the basis for the brief surveillance.

Recently, in *State v. Kinloch*, 410 S.C. 612, 613-614, 767 S.E.2d 153, 153-154 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court considered whether the information contained in a search warrant affidavit was sufficient to establish a probable cause basis for the search of a residence. In reversing the trial court and Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court concluded the search warrant

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