ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001051

DEC 14 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOSEPH TODD ROWLAND,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's issue regarding the admission of the incriminating evidence discovered during the search of his residence was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel only objected to the admission of that evidence through a pre-trial suppression motion, did not renew that motion or raise any other objections when the incriminating evidence was offered into evidence, and expressly waived any objection he had to the incriminating evidence through his statements to the trial judge during trial. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge committed no error in denying defense counsel's suppression motion because the information contained in the search warrant affidavit provided the magistrate who issued the search warrant with a substantial basis upon which he could conclude there was a fair probability drugs and other incriminating evidence would be found at Appellant's residence.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting the marijuana, cocaine, and other incriminating evidence discovered after officers searched his residence. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the search warrant authorizing the search of his residence was invalid because the information contained in the accompanying affidavit was not sufficient to provide the magistrate with a substantial basis upon which he could find the existence of probable cause. Initially, Appellant's issue with the admission of the incriminating evidence was not properly preserved for appellate review. Critically, in Appellant's case, defense counsel moved for the evidence to be suppressed during a pre-trial hearing, and the trial judge issued an in limine ruling denying that motion. Thereafter, during trial, the incriminating evidence was not offered into evidence directly after the trial judge issued his preliminary ruling, and, when it was introduced, defense counsel did not renew his pre-trial motion or raise any other objections to that evidence even though he was required to do so in order to preserve an objection to the evidence's admission under the circumstances. Instead, at that time, defense counsel expressly waived his earlier objection by stating he had no objection to the majority of the evidence

and by assuring the trial judge the solicitor had completed the steps necessary to admit the marijuana and cocaine. As a result, Appellant's issue with the admission of the incriminating evidence cannot properly be raised or addressed on appeal. However, even if the issue was somehow preserved for appellate review, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion because Sergeant Ratliffe's search warrant affidavit contained sufficient information to establish a substantial basis upon which the magistrate could conclude probable cause existed for a search of Appellant's home. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

A. Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary, subject to change based on developments during trial, and not a final ruling on the admissibility of the challenged evidence. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999); see State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996)

(“A ruling in limine is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence.”). As a result, even if a pre-trial objection has been raised, a defendant must object at the time evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve an issue with the evidence’s admission for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); see State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 77, 528 S.E.2d 668, 669 (2000) (“[A]n in limine ruling is not final and does not preserve the issue for appeal.”). “However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record **immediately prior to the** introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (emphasis added). “This exception is based on the fact that when the trial court’s ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection.” State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009).

In the case sub judice, defense counsel raised a pre-trial motion in limine seeking for the evidence discovered in the search of Appellant’s home to be suppressed, and the trial judge issued a preliminary ruling denying Appellant’s motion at the conclusion of a pre-trial hearing on the matter. Thereafter, during trial, the solicitor moved to admit the cocaine, marijuana, and other incriminating evidence discovered during the search of Appellant’s home through various witnesses – none of whom were the first to testify. Each time the solicitor did so, defense counsel did **not** renew his pre-trial suppression motion and did **not** raise any other objections to the admission of that evidence. Instead, defense counsel directly stated he had no objection to the majority of the evidence and assured the trial judge the solicitor had satisfied the chain of custody requirements in regard to the marijuana and cocaine when the drugs were offered into evidence. Thus, in Appellant’s case, the only objection raised to the admission of the incriminating evidence

discovered during the search of Appellant's residence was raised through a pre-trial motion in limine, the trial judge only ruled on the admissibility of that evidence in a preliminary fashion at the conclusion of a pre-trial in limine hearing, and defense counsel expressly waived any objection he had to the evidence when it was introduced during trial.

Because the trial judge's in limine ruling did not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of the incriminating evidence and the incriminating evidence was not admitted immediately after the trial judge issued his preliminary ruling on the matter, defense counsel was required to renew his pre-trial suppression motion and contemporaneously object to the admission of the incriminating evidence during trial in order to preserve any issue with the admission of that evidence for appellate review. See State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) ("A ruling in limine is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review."). However, defense counsel did **not** do so and, instead, either directly indicated he had no objection to the evidence or assured the trial judge the solicitor had completed the steps necessary to admit the evidence.⁵ See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) ("When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review."); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Dicapua's sole

⁵ Notably, defense counsel appeared to concede during the in limine hearing his suppression motion was meritless by instructing the trial judge he hated to agree with the solicitor after the solicitor identified the reasons she believed defense counsel's motion should be denied, which likely explains why defense counsel elected not to renew his suppression motion during trial. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot subsequently be argued on appeal).

objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had 'no objection.' We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape."); see also State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 163, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000) ("[T]he record reflects that this issue was only raised and ruled on in limine. Stokes never raised the issue again at any time during the trial. Merely raising an argument in limine does not preserve the issue for appellate review."). Accordingly, Appellant's issue in regard to the admission of the marijuana, cocaine, and other incriminating evidence was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot properly be raised or addressed on appeal. See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court "cannot address unpreserved errors"). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Search Warrant

The Fourth Amendment protects "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV. "The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) ("It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]").

Generally, in order for a search to be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, a law enforcement officer must obtain a search warrant prior to conducting the search. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014). In South Carolina, an

officer seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-349 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term ‘probable cause’ does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive, it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

(citing State v. Bennett, 256 S.C. 234, 182 S.E.2d 291 (1971)).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the issuing judge must “make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. In making the probable cause determination, “[issuing judges] are concerned with probabilities and not certainties.” State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976).

Furthermore, the issuing judge must view the warrant affidavit in a common-sense and

realistic fashion and give consideration to the fact such affidavits are typically prepared by non-lawyers in the haste of criminal investigations. State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995); see United States v. Ventresca, 380 U.S. 102, 108 (1965) (“Technical requirements of elaborate specificity once exacted under common law pleadings have no proper place [when evaluating the sufficiency of search warrant affidavits].”).

When reviewing a decision to issue a search warrant, a reviewing court should decide whether the issuing judge had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Applying the same standard as the issuing judge, the court should base its determination on the totality of circumstances and afford great deference to the issuing judge’s probable cause determination. State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003). Significantly, “[s]earches based on warrants will be given judicial deference to the extent that an otherwise marginal search may be justified if it meets a realistic standard of probable cause.” Dupree, 354 S.C. at 683-684, 583 S.E.2d at 441; see Ventresca, 380 U.S. at 106 (“[I]n a doubtful or marginal case a search under a warrant may be sustainable where without one it would fall.”). “Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ” State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984)).

Recently, in State v. Kinloch, 410 S.C. 612, 613-614, 767 S.E.2d 153, 153-154 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court considered whether the information contained in a search warrant affidavit was sufficient to establish a probable cause basis for the

search of a residence. In that case, the officer who sought the search warrant included the following details in the search warrant affidavit: (1) officers conducted surveillance of a particular residence after receiving numerous tips about drug transactions taking place at that location; (2) during their surveillance, officers saw a man in a red shirt leave the residence and engage in hand-to-hand transactions with other individuals while a man in a black jacket stood nearby; (3) officers observed the man in the red shirt count money after the transactions; (4) later on, officers saw the man in the black jacket approach another individual and exchange a plastic bag for money; and (5) after that, officers approached the person who made the exchange with the man in the black jacket and recovered a plastic bag containing heroin when it was dropped to the ground. *Id.* at 614-615, 767 S.E.2d at 154. Based on those facts, the magistrate issued a search warrant for the targeted residence, drugs and other incriminating evidence were discovered during the ensuing search, and Kinloch subsequently successfully moved to suppress that evidence during trial. *Id.* Thereafter, the State appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge's ruling. *Id.* at 614, 767 S.E.2d at 155. Ultimately though, the Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed. *Id.* at 618, 767 S.E.2d at 156. In reversing, the Supreme Court concluded the search warrant affidavit provided the magistrate with a substantial basis for reaching his probable cause determination based on the information contained within it regarding the numerous tips received by the officers and the officers' subsequent observation of "seemingly drug-related behavior." *Id.* at 618, 767 S.E.2d at 156.

In the case at bar, the information included in the search warrant affidavit established the officers – much like the officers in Kinloch – had received numerous tips in regard to drug activity taking place at 31 Woodleaf Court. See id. (finding the receipt of numerous tips regarding drug activity to be relevant under the totality of the

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